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  To my dear wife, the best thing that ever happened to me . . .

  


  INTRO


  On the morning of 9 October 1954, I woke up in a Norman castle. Quite a change from the previous eighteen years of my life which I had spent in a grim, unheated, crowded
  council house sharing a bed with my brother. We did have a bath and, no, we did not keep coal in it, but the bathroom was too cold to enter and anyway we had no hot water.

  Quite normal, for those post-war years. Millions of us were in the same austerity boat and around half the population lived in rented or council property. My family circumstances were perhaps a
  bit bleaker and sadder than some, not that I was really conscious of it. It was just how it was, living like most of the neighbours seemed to live.

  But now I had found myself in a suite of well-appointed rooms in an historic building, once the splendid home of Prince Bishops, today a World Heritage site. I had a bedder to make my bed, maids
  to serve me meals in the Great Hall, new words and phrases to understand, such as buttery, battels, Senior Man, JCR, SCR, sconcing, ‘oaks up’. A new life to learn, a new life to live.
  And it was all free. Even my train fare from Carlisle the day before had been paid for.

  What was happening to me was not at all normal for an eighteen-year-old in the 1950s, a period when only 4 per cent of the population went to university. But again, I was not really conscious of
  this, of being in any sort of elite. It just seemed how it was, what you did.

  All the same, I was a bit dazed and confused, not quite sure how I had got there. I just seemed to wake up that morning, my first day as an undergraduate at University College, Durham, open my
  eyes, and find myself there.

  At breakfast in the Great Hall I tried to identify the accents of the others. I had not heard a southern accent before, not in the flesh, only on the radio, nor even Birmingham or West Country,
  and certainly never come across anyone who had gone to a public school. I wondered if my accent stood out.

  The second and third year chaps seemed so grown-up, knowing all the ropes, swapping banter with Eddie the butler, flirting with the maids. Many did look incredibly mature, having done their
  national service, seen the world, fired guns, probably shot people. That was one thing hanging over me – the thought of national service. At least I had three years ahead, safe in an ivory
  tower.

  Carlisle and home was already another world, receding fast in my mind. Would I lose contact with my parents, my sisters and brother, move away emotionally, socially and culturally, forget all
  those eighteen years at home? Perhaps even be embarrassed by them?

  When you are one of only a tiny percentage of lucky beggars you can’t expect the remaining 96 per cent of the population to understand or sympathise with you. Not like today. Everyone and
  their aunty seems to go to ‘uni’ today.

  I was aware it could afford me opportunities and experiences denied to my own parents, and all their parents before them. Let’s hope I didn’t muck it up, fail my exams. Oh, the shame
  and ignominy for my mother.

  At dinner that night, in the Great Hall, wearing my gown, listening to the Latin grace being read by one of the scholars, I was on a table with about twelve other first years, first days, all my
  age. I realised, looking round and listening, that they were mostly like me. From their conversations about their sixth forms and A-levels, they appeared to have come from the same sort of grammar
  schools. Despite one or two being louder and more boastful than the others, they were apprehensive, nervous.

  It suddenly struck me, seeing myself in them, as them, that for the first time in my whole life I was with people all beginning at square one. We were all equal, more or less, poised on the same
  starting block. Until then, for various reasons, I had always felt an outsider, behind the others.

  Surely that had to be a good thing. But where might it lead, if I survived my student years? Would I manage to find something to do with my life? Six years ahead, say, at the end of the decade,
  finally fleeing the fifties, what would have happened to me? In 1960, what would I be, who would I be, where would I be living, and with whom?
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  FAMILY BACKGROUND


  ‘I am going back to the Highlands,’ my mother used to say towards the end of her life. She never lived in the Highlands, but only visited now and again as a child,
  so I can’t believe she had many memories, just images she had been told about, fantasies which had gathered in her mind.

  ‘I am going back to Australia,’ she also used to say, right towards the very end. She had never been to Australia, so goodness knows where that had come from.

  There are places we remember from our lives, some have changed, some are gone, some might not even have existed.

  I have decided, at long last, that I am going to go back to the place where I was born. So, obviously I have been there, in my life. I am now aged eighty, yet I have never been back to my
  birthplace – which was Johnstone. I have been to other parts of Scotland, to Edinburgh for example, loads of times over the decades. And it’s not far, really, just a few hours on the
  train. What has been stopping me?

  Is it prejudice, something I have against the place I was born? But how can it be, when I have never been and don’t really know anything about it. When asked, I always say I am Scottish,
  because I am proud of it, pure Scots on both sides. And if Scotland had become independent in 2014 I would have applied for a Scottish passport, if they had ever got round to such things.

  I suppose it is partly because I don’t really know where it is that I was born. I know that factually I was born on 7 January 1936 in Johnstone in the county of Renfrewshire, which is near
  Paisley, not far from Glasgow. I have no image of Johnstone, let alone any memories. In my mind all these years I have seen Johnstone as a dot somewhere on the edges of the Greater Glasgow sprawl,
  part of the old urban, industrial Clydeside shipping heartland, once so dominant in Scottish and British life but now decaying and sad-sounding. Who would want to go there, unless they had to?
  After all, I left it when I was four. My family were just passing through.

  If, of course, I had been born somewhere more exotic or glamorous or interesting and exciting and famous, then I am sure I would have had occasions over the years to pop in, poke around and say,
  ‘Hi, you don’t know me, but I am one of yous, oh yes, I mean och aye.’ We don’t pick our own birthplace, no more than we pick our parents. It’s all chance, there is
  nothing you can do about it.

  One advantage is that it is a blank slate; if you have left that place as young as I did, nothing has been painted or marked on it. I won’t be able to stand around and say, ‘When I
  was a lad, these were all fields, goodness the views from here were sublime’ or, more likely, ‘This street was full of factories, the smoke and the noise were awful and the poverty, my
  dear the poverty.’ For I remember nothing. Johnstone just happens to be the place where I came into the world.

  My father, John Hunter Davies, was born in 1906, so was thirty when I came along, quite old for those days. His father, Edward Davies, was some of sort of engineer, not a
  professionally qualified one, more probably a fitter who looked after various machines in the steelworks.

  The family lived in Cambuslang, which is on the other side of Glasgow. They were upper working class, as far as I can make out, for they owned their own house on the Hamilton Road, where I spent
  many holidays when I was growing up. I loved staying there. It seemed so huge, with little attic rooms on landings and bedrooms which were holes in walls and a wooden pulley suspended over the
  kitchen table with clothes drying.

  My father had a sister Jean and three brothers, Eddie, Alex and Jim. Jean went to Glasgow University and became a teacher at Hamilton Academy, which was unusual for women from that background
  and at that time, but then Scotland always prided itself on its education system, offering more chances of higher education compared with the English system. Alex also became a teacher. Jim, the
  youngest of the family, became some sort of clerk and then a rent collector but considered himself a poet and playwright. He did once have a play performed at the Byre Theatre in St Andrews. It was
  in Scots dialect, Lallans, the old language of south and central Scotland, and was called The Hands of Esau. I was once forced, as a teenager, to stay up late while he read it aloud to me
  and found it excruciating. Till I fell asleep.

  My mother, Marion Brechin, came from Motherwell and her family were less educated, less cultured, and rather looked down upon by the Davies clan. Her father was from the Highlands and had been
  an engine driver, which my mother always said was the aristocracy of the working class, the best job any ordinary working man could aspire to, a job for life, with great status. So she always
  maintained. But if this were true, why had they never managed to buy their own house, like my Davies grandparents? All families have little secrets, mostly piddling, minor mysteries about which you
  never ask till it is too late and they have all gone. I suspect Grandpa Brechin was not in fact an engine driver but a fireman, assisting the engine driver, but it did mean he got free travel on
  the railways.

  As a child, up to the age of ten or so, I spent some of my summer holidays living with my Brechin grandparents. They lived in an upstairs council flat on the Bellshill Road in Motherwell. I
  never looked forward to it, compared with my Cambuslang relations. It was cold and cramped and my Grandma Brechin was very bossy. She had a yappy Highland terrier called Sheila who ran round the
  little flat, barking to be taken out. She would go mad if my grandmother forgot to take her hat off and ran around in a frenzy, convinced she was about to go for a walk.

  Grandma Brechin used to make crowdie, pouring sour milk into a muslin bag, tying it up and leaving it overnight to drip over the sink. In the morning for breakfast you scraped out the white
  cheese, like goat’s cheese, which had formed in the muslin bag. It was surprisingly delicious spread on toast.

  My grandfather didn’t speak, even when we played Ludo together. He would sit and stare out of the window, emitting a constant breathy whistle which had no notes, no tune, clearly unaware
  of what he was doing. His other activity was unfankling – i.e. unravelling – endless bits and balls of string which he had picked up in the street.

  My mother had three sisters. The oldest, Aunt Maggie, emigrated to Canada when quite young. Then there was Bella, who lived nearby in the Buildings and was broad Glasgow, with an even stronger
  accent than my mother. Jean, the youngest, was very pretty and quite refined, but delicate and always ill, resting on a day bed whenever I was taken to see her. Which I thought was my fault, as I
  was always being told to pipe down when I was young.

  Her husband Tom was a hero in the war, a chief petty officer on the submarine that was the first to break the German blockade of Malta when the island was on the brink of starvation, for which
  he received a medal. They had one daughter, Sylvia, who was my age so they tried to get us to play together, but she was very serious and solemn. Last I heard of her she had become a nun and gone
  off to Africa.

  ‘Oh, I loved school. Don’t you love school, Hunter? Oh, I loved school.’ That was one of my mother’s constant refrains throughout my childhood. I never thought about
  school as being something to be loved or not loved. It was simply there, a place you had to go. But my mother insisted her schooldays had been nothing but wonderful.

  If she had loved school so much, and was good at all her lessons, so she said, why had she left at fourteen and not stayed on longer? That was one question I often asked her, when I got a bit
  older. She would look puzzled. ‘Oh, I don’t know. Did I leave at fourteen? I suppose I did.’

  In 1922, aged fourteen, she went into service for the next few years, as a live-in domestic, a tweeny, with a series of Church of Scotland ministers and their families. She always reminisced how
  one day she had taken the Reverend Eric Liddell breakfast in bed when he came to visit the minister she was working for. Before entering the Church of Scotland, Eric Liddell had been a famous
  Scottish runner, appearing at the 1924 Olympics. His strong religious beliefs meant he refused to train or run on Sundays, as was portrayed in Chariots of Fire, the 1981 film about
  him.

  When my parents met, my mother had stopped working as a domestic servant and was serving in the NAAFI in Perth. My father was in the RAF. Over a cup of excellent NAAFI tea, their eyes met.
  Presumably.

  During the war there were always jokes on the radio about the awful food and tea in the NAAFI, but I never quite understood what this ‘Naffy’ was. It stood for Navy, Army and Air
  Force Institutes and was created by government in 1921 to run recreational services for the British armed forces, selling goods to servicemen and their families. It ran clubs, bars, shops,
  supermarkets, launderettes, restaurants, cafés and other facilities on most British military bases, and also canteens on board Royal Navy ships. Commissioned officers were not usually
  supposed to use the NAAFI clubs and bars, since their messes provided these facilities.

  I don’t know at what age my father joined the RAF, or what he did beforehand, if anything, or if he joined as a boy from school. I have photos of him in RAF uniform, and also playing in
  his RAF football team. He once told me that the squadron leader, sitting in the front row of one group photo, was the Duke of Hamilton, or perhaps later became the Duke of Hamilton. Most families,
  however humble, have pet stories they trot out over the years in which they worked with, or met or saw or just passed in the street or nearly almost met someone who later became well known. Celebs,
  as we call them today.

  My parents got married in Motherwell in 1934. My dad was twenty-eight and my mother twenty-six. I don’t think the Davies family were exactly thrilled by the arrival of my mother into my
  father’s life, a mere NAAFI girl, tall and rather bony, who seemed nervous and awkward. My father had apparently been engaged to or going out with a teacher, who was greatly liked and
  approved of by all his family. Something had gone wrong; possibly she dumped him, which was why he married my mother on the rebound. Who knows the truth about these situations – or if the
  people ever know it themselves.

  My mother had also had a long relationship. He was a soldier called Ronnie. I once found a photo of him – in full uniform, complete with kilt – in my mother’s drawer. He had
  inscribed it to Marion – and signed it ‘Ever Thine Ronnie’. That became his name in our family legend – Everthineronnie, as if it was one word. My mother, on special
  occasions, used to wear his engagement ring. So, my parents got married rather late for the times and, it would appear, both on the rebound from someone else. And two years after they got married,
  I was born.
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  A JAUNT TO JOHNSTONE


  As an amusement for myself, a detour before I get started on my own exciting life, I decided to visit the place where my parents happened to be living when I was born. I took
  maps and guidebooks, emergency rations and crampons (okay, that is a silly joke), and headed for Euston station to catch the Virgin Trains Pendolino that would take me to Glasgow Central. It did
  feel like going on a safari, to unknown areas not yet mapped.

  When I was born, my father was a clerk, so it says on my birth certificate, but he was still attached to the RAF. He was working as a civilian at a base at Abbotsinch, as some sort of pay clerk,
  giving out the wages each week. The Abbotsinch airbase had been created in 1932 as an overspill from the bigger airbase at Renfrew. He must have been posted there sometime around 1934, after my
  parents had got married, and they took rented quarters not far away at The Bungalow, Inchinnan Road, in Johnstone.

  My birth certificate also says I was born in Thornhill Maternity Hospital – which sounds private, perhaps even posh. Why was I not born at home as most babies were in the 1930s, pre-NHS?
  Who paid for it? Is the hospital still there? Is there a plaque saying ‘Hunter was born here’?

  Those were the only two addresses I had, when I set off. Both of them might well have disappeared long ago. Eighty years is a long time in politics. In life, it is, well, a lifetime.

  A Google search seemed to suggest that Inchinnan Road was a whopper, stretching for miles, most of it now dual carriageway, probably part of the M8 motorway, so fat chance of finding any little
  cottage called The Bungalow. Must have been flattened, blown away decades ago. Like my mother and father, long gone.

  At Glasgow Central, I caught the local train to Johnstone, just fifteen minutes away. The destination on the board was Largs – which immediately sparked off memories I never knew I had. My
  parents once took me to the seaside at Largs, or was it Troon? I have a photo somewhere of me, aged about three or four, on an Ayrshire beach with my parents, which I was always led to believe was
  Troon, or Largs. Should I go and see both places? Might be nice, but what on earth would I learn there, about me, now?

  After Paisley, the countryside grew green and sylvan and I could see proper fields and hills in the distance, which was a pleasant surprise. I had expected either industrial wasteland or
  built-up areas and council estates all the way to Johnstone, which was how it had appeared on the map. As we approached Johnstone, I could see low-flying planes, heading for Glasgow airport.

  Johnstone railway station was small, neat and tidy, quite attractive. On the platforms, I noticed that the signs also had the name in Gaelic – ‘Baile Iain’, literally
  ‘John’s town’. It is a recent wheeze by the triumphant, all-conquering Scottish National Party to add the Gaelic name to every station in the whole of Scotland, despite the fact
  that most of these places never had a Gaelic name or people who ever spoke Gaelic.

  At the 2015 general election, there was a massive local victory for the SNP, defeating the MP for Paisley and Renfrewshire South, Douglas Alexander, who had been in the Labour cabinet under Tony
  Blair and then shadow foreign secretary. What a surprise and humiliation it must have been for him, having been one of the important Labour figures. But perhaps the bigger surprise was the person
  who beat him: a 20-year-old Glasgow University student called Mhairi Black, who became the youngest MP in the House of Commons since the 1660s. She is a keen tweeter, making no secret of her
  drinking and use of strong language, or of her football allegiance: ‘I hate fucking Celtic,’ so she announced to her followers.

  I did a quick internet search and discovered that Gordon Ramsay, the chef, was born in Johnstone in 1966 – and, like me, in Thornhill Maternity Hospital. Not that I would recognise him if
  I met him in my porridge, which was a saying of my mother’s. I don’t watch TV, except football, and I would never in a million years watch anything to do with cooking.

  Renée Houston also came from Johnstone, born there in 1902, and was an actress and comedian, very popular in the prewar and post-war years. My mother was awfie fond of her. I should think
  today she is forgotten, even in Scotland, by anyone under sixty. Other famous Johnstonians include the footballer Jim Leighton and Sir George Houstoun Reid, who in 1904 became the fourth prime
  minister of Australia. Quite a mixed bunch, with only their birthplace in common, but I suppose that’s true of any place, anywhere.

  I stood for a long time outside the railway station, asking people if they knew where The Bungalow, Inchinnan Road, was. People had heard of the road but didn’t seem to know where it
  began. I have a family snap somewhere of me in a garden of The Bungalow and the house looks like a shack, a sort of wooden chalet. Must be long gone, so I decided to give up.

  I then asked people how far Renfrew was, the town itself, as I wanted to look at the parish church where I was baptised. They all said it was miles away. I Googled it on my iPhone to see if it
  still existed, and found it was still there – but for sale. It looked interesting, sort of mock Gothic, not the usual dour-looking Scottish church. The asking price was £88,000 and had
  been ‘heavily discounted for an early sale’. The estate agent blurb said it was just fifteen minutes from Glasgow and perfect for being turned into twelve luxury apartments –
  ‘subject to relevant consents’. Consent is, of course, the relevant word with all conversions.

  I did have my cheque book with me, but I thought no, not worth the bother. Best to stick to Johnstone itself. That was where I was born.

  So I headed for Thornhill Maternity Hospital, not far from Johnstone station – but I was a bit late. It closed in 1986. But the gate posts and wall of the entrance to the old hospital are
  still there. It now leads into a rather superior housing estate called Thorndene, with eighty-two smart houses in all, lush lawns, conservatories, large garages, winding round a cul-de-sac. I got a
  passer-by to take a photo of me on my phone, leaning against the front, low wall at the entrance. I could see that there had once been iron railings along the top of the wall – presumably
  taken down during the last war and melted into guns or bullets. All over Britain you can still see the remains of once handsome iron railings at the front of houses and buildings and public places
  which were savagely cut down and never replaced.

  I walked round the estate several times without spotting any humans. All in perfect condition, well-kept, but it was as if all the houses had been abandoned. It reminded me of various villages
  in Sussex I passed through one afternoon when I was walking along disused railway lines for a book. It felt as if a sudden plague had cleared out all the inhabitants, but I imagined there must be
  some house-bound mothers, holed up inside, or some secret assignations taking place behind those closed curtains.

  On my third circuit I spotted a man coming out of his front door to get into his car – so I pounced. I talked rapidly, trying to explain my project, knowing that the normal reaction when
  approached by a total stranger, who does not talk in a local accent, is to assume they are selling something, looking for houses to burgle, or they are potty.

  ‘I was born here,’ I explained. ‘Eighty years ago . . .’

  He looked a bit puzzled as I rambled on, but when I started asking him questions, he became helpful and amused. His name was Alastair Wilson and he and his wife bought their house exactly
  twenty-five years ago, moving into it when it was new. He is now retired, after thirty-eight years working for the Bank of Scotland. I asked how much he paid for his house, thinking he might not
  tell me. People can be funny about money, almost like asking about their sex life or politics. He said he paid £124,000 in 1990. Today he thought it would be worth £330,000. Not quite
  the vast increase over twenty-five years had he bought in London, but still a good investment.

  He often met people wandering round his little estate who said they had been born in Thornhill Maternity Hospital. The hospital had been going since 1934 and was run by Renfrew county council,
  which was why my parents had not had to pay, who passed it over to the NHS in 1948. Thousands of people must have been born there over the decades, before it finally closed in 1986.

  Houses were still going up when Alastair and his wife first looked at the estate. His initial general impression of Johnstone itself was depressing. ‘There seemed to be so many empty
  factories and disused buildings. A bit of a dump really. It was the view that did it, making us fall in love with the house.’

  He took me round the back of his house. From his neat back garden he could look as far as the eye could see at green fields and hedges, across the Firth of Clyde. In the far distance I could see
  clearly a range of mountains. ‘Er, what is that, Alastair? I know I’m Scottish, but you will have to identify it for me.’

  ‘Ben Lomond – can’t you recognise it? Marvellous view, don’t you think? I get pleasure out of it every day.’

  A low-flying jumbo jet came over his house heading for Glasgow airport, just five miles away. ‘The planes don’t bother me. I’ve got used to them. It helps to identify the wind
  direction. If they are coming in directly over our house, it means there is an easterly wind. Very handy to know that.’

  I had never expected such a splendid view as the one from Alastair’s back garden. I wondered if the ward I was born in had looked out on it. Was it the first thing I gazed out at when I
  was born? In those days, babies were kept in maternity wards for up to ten days, unlike today. So my eyes must have opened.

  I then went into Johnstone, just a mile away, to see the sights, to explore the burg, as they say in the States. It is, in fact, an ancient Scottish borough – hence the name of their local
  football team, Johnstone Burgh – with a population today of 15,000.

  I asked for the town hall and was directed to a low, modern, concrete building across the square, boring and grim outside, but quite spacious and attractive inside. No, they didn’t have a
  tourist office. But I was told there was a Johnstone museum. I love museums so I got the address and rushed to see it.

  It turned out to be out of town – inside Morrisons. Yes, Morrisons, the nationally known supermarket in which I have ten shares.

  Alas, I had come on a Monday. Johnstone History Museum is only open on Wednesday, Friday and Saturday. A Morrisons management man tried to get me a key, but was unable to contact anyone. I
  peered through the door of the tiny one-room museum, tucked away at the far end of the store, just past the café. I could see some badges, books, booklets and photos, presumably all about
  Johnstone, but, though tantalisingly near, I was unable to get in and devour them. Would I have learned more about my birthplace if I had broken the door down, set off alarms and had every
  Morrisons security person for miles around rushing to apprehend me? I’ll never know.

  Back on Johnstone station, I got talking to a woman on the platform. I thought she must be about my age. Which is what I do all the time, then they turn out to be fifty-eight. Is it my vanity,
  my self-delusion, that I imagine I must look their age? Or is it that once people get over fifty-five they all seem to meld into the same generation . . .

  I told her why I had come to Johnstone, and mentioned Thornhill hospital. No, she had not been born there, but she had had an operation there some years ago.

  ‘Och, must be twenty-five years ago. Let me think now, Sandy is twenty-eight, Annie is twenty-seven, Wee Callum is twenty-five. So, yes, it must have been back in the 1980s.’

  ‘And what was the operation?’ I asked, hesitantly.

  ‘Oh, it was where I was sterilised. I was told I was the last women to be sterilised in Thornhill hospital before it closed.’

  And what nicer place to have it done. I hope she enjoyed the view.
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  HUNTER’S RECORD


  One of the few things my mother left me was a booklet called ‘My Record Book’, which for several months in 1936 she faithfully filled in. It is a sixteen-page,
  full-colour, very pretty production with nice little illustrations and attractive typography in which you were supposed to enter all the details of your baby’s first months. I see I was born
  at 2.35am, the doctor who delivered me was called Dr Mackay and the nurse was Nurse Waddell. I weighed 7 pounds 13 ounces and was 21 inches long. Quite long for a baby, I think, though what do I
  know?

  On one of the pretty pages you have to list the gifts of money the baby has received, ‘Which shall go into the Bank to build a Savings Account so that some day the baby shall go to
  College’. My mother has carefully written in ink that I got £1-5-0 from Grandma Brechin, £1 from Grandma Davies and £1-2-6 from aunties and uncles.

  On turning over the attractive booklet I see it is copyright ‘1927 Imperial Granum, New York’. It does seem a very American production – hence the reference to ‘going to
  College’. I wonder where they got it from? I can’t believe it was on sale in the local Woolworths in Johnstone. We had no relatives in the USA, as far as I know, but we did have some in
  Canada, courtesy of my mother’s eldest sister Maggie.

  On the front page of ‘My Record Book’ it gives my full name: Edward Hunter Davies. I have gone through life keeping my first name quiet, mainly because for most of my growing-up
  years I never knew I was really an Edward. From the moment I was born, my parents always called me Hunter. I assume it began with the fact that there were already two Edwards in the immediate
  family – my father’s father and one of his brothers. Hunter had been a family name for many generations, usually stuck in the middle, as in my father’s case.

  It wasn’t till I was about ten and at primary school that I realised. The school nit nurse came round and said, ‘Stand up, Edward.’ I looked around, thinking what poor sod is
  called Edward. And it was me. It’s only on things like medical records that the truth comes out. Otherwise I deny it.

  I have enjoyed going through life as Hunter, with almost everyone being unaware that it is not my true first name. With new people, I do get called David Hunter, or David Hunt, till they get it
  straight. I have never met another person called Hunter, though there have been a few in the USA, such as Hunter S. Thompson, the writer, and the golfer Hunter Mahan.

  When Paul McCartney came to have a holiday with us in Portugal in 1968, my first name happened to come out – and he started laughing and mocking. I pointed out his real first name was
  James, not Paul, so he should mind himself. He then went off to the lavatory with his guitar and came back with a song called ‘There You Go Eddie’. I did hear him playing it to John
  later on the Let It Be sessions, but it never made it as a Beatles song. One of the disappointments of my life.

  While I have liked being called Hunter I would have preferred not to have the surname Davies. Much better if I had been called Hunter McGregor, then everyone would know where I really came from.
  Davies is, of course, Welsh, one of the most common names not only in Wales but also in England.

  According to one of my Canadian relations, who has done some genealogical research, the first Davies in our lineage did come from Wales in 1815. He was at the Battle of Waterloo and decided to
  change sides. No, not joining the French, but leaving his Welsh regiment for a Scottish one, becoming a batman to the Duke of Argyll. After the battle he moved to Scotland, settled down and
  married, spawning a long list of Scots called Davies, most of whom eventually moved to the Glasgow area for work. Or, in my father’s case, to Johnstone.

  I do have some photos of my mother and father when they were living in Johnstone, and some earlier ones from their courting days. When I was growing up, and looking at these
  old snaps, I did find it hard to believe they were ever young. My mother even looks vaguely fashionable, with her bobbed hair, nice frocks, stylish hats, although my main memory of her, from when I
  was a schoolchild, was of someone with no interest in clothes. My dad, walking down some street in Johnstone, arm in arm with my mother, is wearing a suit, carrying a coat, and also looks rather
  smart. I have only one photo of me and him when I was very young; he’s holding me as a baby, rather warily.

  I have no memory of him ever looking after me, or holding me, or showing any interest in me. This was the normal pattern for fathers at the time, working class or otherwise. They were not
  involved in child rearing. I do know he played football as a young man, for I have photos of him in his various RAF teams. I even have a medal which he won when playing with a team called Hearts. I
  used to pretend it was Heart of Midlothian, the famous Edinburgh club.

  My first memory in life is of being pushed in my pram to see the Queen Mary, or it might have been the Queen Elizabeth, being launched on Clydeside. I can see me in the pram,
  and have visions in my mind of the mud and all the people, all very clear and vivid – but I think this is nonsense. I couldn’t possibly remember stuff that happened to me in my pram. I
  know some people say they can, but I don’t believe them. So it must be a received memory, based on what I was later told.

  Now I look at the record, I see the Queen Mary was launched in 1934, so I could not have seen that, but the Queen Elizabeth was not launched till 1938. We were still living in
  Johnstone, so I might well have been taken to see that when aged two.

  I do have one happy, fun memory of my father when he once took me out in an RAF jeep. This might have been while we were still living in Johnstone, and he was based at Abbotsinch airfield
  – which, I know now, became Glasgow airport.

  His job involved visiting various RAF bases and handing out the men’s wages, and he was accompanied by uniformed servicemen, guarding him and the money. We stopped several times on the way
  because it was Grand National Day and they all wanted to hear the latest on the race. My father was not a betting man, as far as I ever knew, but listening to the Grand National was a national
  event. Being out in a motor vehicle, that was an excitement in itself.

  While we were still living in Johnstone, my twin sisters, Marion and Annabelle, were born. They came three years after me, in 1939, in the same maternity hospital. Not long
  after their birth, I tried to drown them. They were having their bath and my mother left the bathroom for a moment. She came back to find that I was pushing their heads under the water. Quite
  common, I suppose, for a first born to be resentful when a younger sibling arrives – and even worse when it is two of them. My father was carried round his RAF base on the day they were born,
  as if it was somehow a triumph for him.

  We left Johnstone a year later, in 1940, when I was four years old, so I have no other memories, real or imagined, of my Johnstonian years. Would I have been a different person if I had remained
  living in Johnstone all my life, if my parents had not moved and I had gone to a local school and college, as my baby record book predicted? Would I have been looking around while in Johnstone for
  the people I sat beside at school, the first pub I went to, the girls I took out? My Scottish accent would certainly be intact today, which would be good, as I have gone through life with a
  nondescript accent which no one can place.

  I would obviously not have married the same woman, as I would never have met her, or had the same children, or ended up in the job I wound up in. Decisions and developments would not have been
  the same, so, yes, my life would have been totally different. And yet I would still have been me, presumably.
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  ON THE MOVE


  When we moved in 1940 it was to a foreign country – England. I don’t know why. It just seemed to happen. Aged four, no one is going to explain things to you. I now
  realise it was to do with my father’s job. He was still doing some sort of clerical work as a civilian, connected with the RAF, but now he was being moved to 14 MU in Carlisle, an RAF
  maintenance unit. Was it demotion, promotion, or just bureaucracy, moving people around for no reason?

  As a child, you never think of asking such things. You are more concerned with playing with your friends or stuffing your face. Everything else you just accept. A bit like adults really, when it
  comes to wartime. You are there not to reason why there is a war, just to do what you are told.

  Our arrival in Carlisle was one of the moments my mother often spoke about later, which was not like her. She never moaned or complained, blanking out anything unpleasant, but it clearly had a
  great effect on her.

  We arrived in the winter of 1940, just before Christmas, in the freezing cold. The three successive winters from 1940 to 1942 were incredibly cold, a sequence of nightmare winters that have not
  been equalled since. They went down in folklore, all over Europe, because it was not just in England that the effects were felt. It was the height of the war, so ships got stuck, despite the
  icebreakers, troops could not move, supplies got frozen.

  My mother came down to Carlisle on the train from Glasgow, clutching me by the hand and struggling with the twins, who were then eighteen months old, plus bags and bundles of belongings. My
  father was nowhere to be seen. He did not figure at all in my mother’s memory of the arrival, nor did she explain why he was not with her. At work, still in Johnstone, or what? He just never
  seemed to be there at vital, domestic or family, times. Which, of course, was pretty typical of men in those days.

  She did have her father with her, that thin, silent, weird-looking, whistling man whom I can barely remember. He had a free pass for the railway, as a railway worker, and probably for my mother
  as well, which would explain why we all came on the train.

  We arrived in the dark to this empty council house in a strange town, with my mother knowing nobody. There was no heat, no fire, no furniture and no lights. Electricity existed, but the previous
  occupants, long since gone, had taken all the bulbs. My mother staggered around, with the three of us crying and moaning, while she herself began to feel sick and ill. Our little pathetic,
  refugee-like family must have been spotted by the next-door neighbour, a cheerful cockney woman called Mrs Dembow, who after an hour or so, hearing us clattering around and the children crying,
  came in with a pot of tea and some lightbulbs. So my mother could at last see the full horror of the new home.

  I, of course, can recall nothing of our arrival, or how distraught my mother was, but I do remember those dreadful early winters in Carlisle. It became quite exciting and dramatic – the
  whole street blocked in by snow, which didn’t melt for months. Standpipes appeared in the street, as in every house the pipes had frozen solid. Our school was closed, so we played in the snow
  every day.

  For my mother, though, there was no fun, no amusement or novelty in being frozen in. Even worse when she realised the cause of her sickness. She was pregnant once again, without having been
  aware of it.

  In Carlisle, they turned out to speak a different language, or at least with a very different accent. Yet Carlisle is only just in England, ten miles over the border, an
  ancient border city, where the Romans built a fort and through which Hadrian’s Wall ran. Then, when they left, it was fought over for centuries by both English and Scots and was part of
  Scotland at one time. Carlisle’s history has therefore always been bound up with Scotland’s. There shouldn’t really be such cultural and social and linguistic gulfs.

  Most people in the UK are not quite sure where Carlisle is – wondering if it is in Scotland or perhaps Wales. Its uncertain and remote location makes Carlisle feel that it gets ignored by
  most of the rest of England. It has a chip on its shoulder about being cut off, so far from London. Unless there are floods, then it makes the TV news.

  I was not aware of any of that at the time. It just seemed we had landed somewhere abroad, where we were the migrants. I had not realised till then that my mother’s accent was so broad.
  People from Motherwell are considered, even in Scotland, to have a very broad if not rough accent. I have her on tape, Super 8 and video films, so I know what she sounded like, but I have no sound
  recording of my father. He didn’t say enough for me to remember his voice, but Scottish, obviously. When he did talk to me, he seemed to be doing a lot of shouting, ordering me to pipe down.
  He maintained my voice annoyed him, gave him a headache. Bloomin’ cheek, as my mother used to say, which was the worst, unkindest remark she ever made about anybody.

  We took a little bit of Scotland with us when we moved to Carlisle, as immigrants usually do. My mother joined a church with lots of Scottish members – Warwick Road Presbyterian –
  and at home we managed to get the BBC Scottish Home Service on the radio, read the Scottish Daily Express during the week and the Sunday Post at the weekend.

  There was, naturally, a large Scottish community in Carlisle, but I don’t remember any Scottish people in our street. We seemed to be surrounded by cockneys or Geordies, families like us
  who had been moved from elsewhere to work on the RAF unit.

  We lived on the St Ann’s Hill council estate on the north side of the city at 25 Deer Park Road. Doesn’t that sound idyllic, which I suppose it was, as we had a whole semi-detached
  house with two bedrooms and there were woods to play in not far away.

  About half the whole nation at the time lived in rented accommodation, most of it council housing. The movement for better housing started after the First World War, the government deciding that
  the only adequate solution to the housing question was to build houses specifically for the poor.

  Carlisle was one of the earliest councils to make use of the government subsidies and their first council houses opened in 1922. As more estates were added, they provided a variety of styles and
  accommodation. Some had bay windows, some parlours, some proper indoor bathrooms and indoor lavatories. They were desired and occupied by many lower white-collar workers who might well at other
  economic periods have tried to save and pay a mortgage to acquire their own house.

  The city architect credited with this enormous expansion was Percy Dalton. He is still remembered in a street named after him on the Raffles estate, Dalton Avenue. I used to think he was the
  same person who made the peanuts. I felt quite proud that someone from Carlisle had done so well. Alas, that was another Percy Dalton.

  The St Ann’s estate was built in the 1930s, so was quite new when we moved in. It was council owned, and we paid council rent, but its main purpose was to house workers from 14 MU, which
  had been created in 1938, when the RAF took over the old Kingstown aerodrome. Almost all the fathers around us worked at the site.

  There were seven RAF maintenance units spread all over the UK and each carried a complete range of stock and equipment, from paperclips to aircraft engines, just in case any of the units got hit
  during an air raid or infiltrated and wiped out by some of our nasty enemies. They were heavily guarded and all classified as secret, which meant no outsiders ever got in or knew what went on
  inside.

  At one time, at the height of the war, there were 4,300 people working at Carlisle 14 MU – 784 uniformed airmen and the rest civilians – it was enormous, spread over seven different
  sites with massive hangars and thirteen miles of its own railway track. A good half of the workers were women, who had replaced the men during the war years.

  I never found out what my father did there. I think his days of taking round the wages to other sites were over and he now sat at a desk shifting bits of paper or counting paperclips. He did
  sometimes bring home pads of MU notepaper and pencils, so there were some perks.

  I started at the local primary school, Stanwix, when I was five. It wasn’t all that local, as I had to get a bus there, up a steep hill. Stanwix – pronounced with the ‘w’
  silent – was considered ‘clarty posh’, meaning posh in an ostentatious and vulgar way. It was full of the lower, ambitious middle classes in private semi-detached houses and
  Victorian terraces. The council house kids who came up the hill from the St Ann’s estate tended to stick together. We did feel envious of people who lived in their own homes and had a garage
  and, even more fortunate, so it seemed to me, their own front-door bell. Council houses always had knockers. Tenants trying to get above their station could not build their own garage but installed
  their own bell.

  Not long after we moved to Carlisle, in February 1941, my mother gave birth to her fourth child, John, always known as Johnny, to differentiate him from my father John. Johnny was the sole
  English person, living with five Scots, as we liked to tease him as he got older.

  I suppose my mother must have taken me to Stanwix school in the early days, but in my recollection I always went on my own, or with my best friend, Reggie Hill. He lived in the next street,
  Fraser Grove. His street had been named after the father of the author George MacDonald Fraser, who had been a well-known doctor in the town. In the 1930s there were four Dr Frasers who had come to
  practise in Carlisle, which shows the Scottish connection had always been there – and also how good Scotland had always been at producing doctors.

  Reg’s dad, like mine, worked at 14 MU, having originally come across from the Northeast. His father, also called Reg, had at one time been a professional footballer for Hartlepool United
  before being transferred to Carlisle United. I found this hard to believe when I was first told. Football to me seemed the most glamorous possible profession, yet he seemed to be an elderly,
  shambling, burly figure who never spoke. But then dads didn’t in those days.

  There were family sports held each year at 14 MU, for the children of all the people who worked there, with real money as prizes. One year, Reg and I trained for weeks in our streets in the
  dark, determined to win something, but we never did. So we put our hopes in collecting up as many empty pop bottles as possible, left over from various picnics. You had to pay a penny deposit on
  soft drinks and you got the money back when you returned the bottles. It was a boiling hot day and we were totally exhausted carrying all these bottles back from the wilds of Kingstown to
  Clark’s, the local shop on our council estate. When we got there, triumphant, they refused to give us a penny for any of them. Said the bottles had not been bought from their shop and were a
  different brand anyway. Bastards.

  Reg seemed to be about my height as well as my exact age when I first met him, but then suddenly he started to shoot up, leaving me behind, feeling like a midget. His family had nicknamed him
  Toddles, because he used to toddle along when he first learned to walk, but as he got older he hated the name. I would use it, just to annoy him. Once he got stronger than me, he would beat me up
  if I dared call him Toddles, especially in front of other people.

  On the way back from school each day, Reg and I would wait for our favourite bus, letting others go past just because we wanted to catch the Dummy. This was a small, single-decked bus, rather a
  funny shape, as if it had a bit cut off the front. All the school kids loved it as it was so unusual.

  We got on it one day, pushing our way to the back, which was considered the best place to stand. We were right up against the rear emergency door, which had a huge handle and a sign saying it
  was not to be touched. As we were bumping away down Etterby Street, a cobbled hill leading down from Stanwix towards our council estate, the back door of the bus flew open. It could have been our
  own fault, or perhaps some other kids had been playing with it.

  Reg and I fell out – right into the path of a lorry that was following behind. Goodness knows how it managed to brake and avoid us. I have no memory of what happened, as I had been knocked
  unconscious. I came to sometime later to find I was lying in a ward at the Carlisle infirmary.

  The first our mothers knew about it was when a policeman arrived at their front door, to inform each of them we were in hospital. My mother then had to catch a bus into town and make her way to
  the infirmary on Wigton Road. Going into Carlisle was always an ordeal for her, as she had no sense of direction. I never did ask my mother about what happened when she heard the news, how she had
  reacted, how she had got herself to the hospital, what she must have been dreading.

  When we eventually got back to school, none the worse, it made us something of local heroes, having survived what could have been a serious accident, if not death. It helped to cement our
  friendship, me and Reg, something we had in common, a shared experience.

  But then the bond was suddenly broken. Once again, out of the blue, we were on the move. In 1943, after three years in Carlisle and with me now aged seven, we were moving back over the border to
  Scotland. Reg and I promised to write to each other, and we probably did, for a few weeks, but then it all petered out as I got to grips with being in yet another foreign country, even though it
  was one from whence I had come.
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  BACK TO SCOTLAND


  Dumfries has a similar sort of history to Carlisle: Roman occupation, lots of battles and castles, cross-border looting, till eventually it settled down. It is about a third
  the size of Carlisle, population around 32,000, not a city like Carlisle, as it has no cathedral, but it is a royal burgh, having been given that honour in 1186.

  In school in Dumfries I learned only Scottish history, a lot of it totally foreign to English schoolchildren, about William Wallace – portrayed by Mel Gibson in the film
  Braveheart – defeating the English, and also Robert the Bruce. It was in Dumfries that Robert the Bruce slew his rival the Red Comyn, giving him an extra stab to make sure he was
  dead and shouting, ‘I’ll mak siccar!’ I remember learning this phrase but never really knew what it meant, which of course is ‘I’ll make sure’.

  Dumfries’s most famous resident was Robert Burns, who lived there from 1788 till his death in 1796. My mother endlessly recited Burns poetry, as most Scottish people of her generation did,
  and knew all his songs, which I also learned.

  People from Dumfries, and followers of their football team, Queen of the South, are known as Doonhamers. The phrase is said to have originated in the nineteenth century in Glasgow, when lots of
  Dumfries folk went up there to work on the railways, dreadfully missing their hometown, always wanting to go back ‘doon hame’.

  My father had been forcibly moved to Dumfries to do the same sort of job as he had done in Carlisle. So there must have been some sort of RAF presence, yet I don’t recall the name of any
  local aerodrome or RAF maintenance unit ever being mentioned. In Carlisle, 14 MU was referred to all the time, a legend throughout the city.

  I can remember my father talking about the American servicemen he was working with, and on one famous occasion – famous in our family – him coming home with a tin of fruit. Inside
  were pineapple chunks, oh joy!

  Wouldn’t it be wonderful if after all these years he turned out to have been an undercover government agent, engaged on some secret work, reporting on our so-called allies, the Americans.
  Or could he have been some sort of go-between involved in that mad, farcical meeting between Rudolf Hess and the Duke of Hamilton? Hitler’s deputy flew to Scotland on his hopeless peace
  mission in May 1941, when we were living in Scotland, and of course my papa did know the Duke of Hamilton, so he once boasted.

  These ridiculous thoughts have only just struck me now, but as children during the war we had such mad fantasies all the time, convinced that spies and agents were everywhere, constantly
  watching us. If someone we didn’t like was horrid to us, told us off, well then he or she must be a spy. They could be anywhere, so we were led to believe. Government posters warned us that
  walls have ears, careless talk costs lives, you must always beware, never reveal any possible information, not even your name or address in case, er, I am not quite sure what might have happened.
  We followed anyone acting suspiciously, like Emil and the Detectives, making notes on their movements, taking it in turns to observe them, ready to report them to, well, we never got that
  far.

  One of the wartime rumours that spread though our school was that the Germans were dropping parachutists in local woods – disguised as nuns. So what you had to do if you saw any nuns
  suddenly running around was to check if their legs were hairy. Then you would know they were up to no good.

  The real reason I was never aware of any actual RAF station or maintenance unit in Dumfries, and so never knew where my father went, was that we lived out of town, not among other families with
  fathers doing the same job, as in Carlisle. We were not on a council estate this time, but renting accommodation over a disused shop on a busy thoroughfare, the Annan Road, leading out of
  Dumfries.

  Hmm, that does sound suspicious. Even more suspicious was the fact that below us, where the shop had once been but was now boarded up, lived a strange single man with a limp and a frightening
  face who had a foreign accent. We could hear him wandering around in the night, talking to himself in an unfamiliar language. Sending radio messages to Berlin on a transmitter made out of biscuit
  tins? That was my first suspicion, which I immediately related in a whisper to my twin sisters. Didn’t bother telling Johnny. He was too young and too English.

  My mother eventually informed us that he was a Polish pilot who had fought on our side and been very brave, but had been badly burned and invalided out. So we should be nice to him. Polish
  airmen, of course, did play an important in the last war.

  The house was called Nancyville. It made it seem as if we had achieved a slight social step up, living in a house with a name not a number. Beside us were other private houses, lived in by very
  nice people. One of whom, a genteel elderly lady, knocked on our door the moment we arrived and brought us soup. ‘Wasn’t that awfie nice?’ said my mother. We never saw her again.
  I think it was the sight and sound of four screaming kids under the age of seven that put her off.

  For a while we had a cat, called Peter, the only time in my growing-up family life, in Carlisle or Dumfries, that we ever had a pet, despite begging our mother. She had enough to worry about.
  This cat once disappeared, didn’t come back for weeks, and we were sure it was a goner, then one morning it reappeared from over the fields behind our house, dragging behind it a large trap.
  Its foot had been caught and mangled so much it had to be amputated. Until the end of its life, we could hear Peter wandering round in the middle of the night going pad pad pad thump, pad pad pad
  thump, as every fourth step his gammy stumpy leg hit the lino.

  You entered the house downstairs at the side, into a kitchen, then beyond into a living room. Upstairs were just two bedrooms. We four children slept in one bedroom and our parents slept in the
  other.

  Our bedroom was at the front of the house overlooking the busy Annan Road. All night long there were military convoys roaring past on the way to Carlisle and the South. Every few minutes their
  headlights pierced our bedroom dark, despite the blackout blinds, brilliantly illuminating the four of us, burrowing down in our beds, blankets over our little heads, trying to sleep.

  Before bed every night, our mother would make us kneel down beside the bed, put our hands together, close our eyes and say the Lord’s Prayer. This was followed by ‘Bless Mum and Dad,
  Annabelle, Marion and Johnny, our grandmothers, all our uncles and aunts, all our airmen, soldiers and sailors, politicians, the royal family . . .’ The Polish war hero down below would often
  get a mention, or anyone else my mother was currently concerned about, such as Peter the cat.

  Having coaxed us all into bed, she would then get us up again and put each of us on the potty. She had a fetish that we each had to perform before bed, either a number one or number two. So we
  would strain and stretch and pretend we had performed, till our little bottoms were indented with deep cold rings, not wanting to be given the dreaded senna pods or syrup of figs or whatever pet
  laxative she currently believed in. The entire nation’s mothers were in a continual panic about bowel movements, which is strange, considering that our whole diet during the war consisted of
  the roughest of roughage, the sort of diet you would now pay extra for.

  When eventually the praying and potty rituals were over, as the oldest I would try to create some discipline in the bedroom, attempting to get us all to sleep.

  ‘One, two, three, goodnight,’ I would say, which was the signal for no more talking. Then one of them would talk, forgetting. I would have to start all over again.

  ‘One, two, three, GOODNIGHT!’

  This could go on for ages, with me shouting, and them winding me up by starting to talk again.

  During the day, if the American convoys were still rumbling past, all the local kids would stand in the gutters making a ‘V for Victory’ sign at them. I could never manage to get my
  fingers arranged the right way, so my mother would have to come out in the street and do it for me.

  The object was to shout, ‘Got any gum, chum!’ at the Yanks, smile and wave, pathetically but appealingly, in the hope that they would chuck out some sweets or chewing gum. They often
  did, which led to a mass stampede as we rushed into the road, trying to avoid the oncoming jeeps and trucks, pushing and shoving each other to secure the treasures.

  I went to the local primary school, Noblehill school, just along the road from Nancyville, on the same side. I remember it as being enormous but in fact there were only three
  classes. While I was there, sometime between 1943 and 1947, there was a tremendous fire in the school, with large parts burned to the ground, which of course meant we couldn’t go there for
  several weeks.

  I had a fight in the playground one day. Some brute was bullying me, probably for having an English accent. He had been doing it for some days and I had put up with it, being a scaredy-cat and
  always willing to please and appease, but this time I couldn’t bear it any longer. He was taller and bigger than me and I was small and weedy and wheezy, but from somewhere I summoned the
  willpower and strength to lash out like a wild animal, screaming and shouting, punching and kicking him. Everyone stopped their playground games and rushed over, shouting ‘FIGHT FIGHT
  FIGHT!’ He was so surprised at what he had unleashed that he backed away. And never bothered me again.

  I also got teased a bit about my buck teeth and the fact that there was a slight gap in the middle. (Apparent on the front jacket photo of this book, if you put on your best specs.) I had not
  really been aware of it, till some sweet girl in the class pointed it out, then of course others joined in. The teacher must have heard all this, for at the end of the lesson she called me over, on
  my own. ‘I always think there is something attractive about uneven teeth.’ Wasn’t that kind, wasn’t that thoughtful. I immediately forgot about it from then on. The gap,
  such as it was, disappeared anyway with age. Oh, if only all unpleasant and unattractive things we worry about could disappear with age.

  When I was about nine or ten, in the top class, I went on a school outing to Glengonnar camp, in the Leadhills. It seemed miles and miles away, but was probably only about an hour’s
  distance, up in the hills beyond Moffat, an area where once there had been lead mines. We stayed in wooden huts which had dormitories, went on nature trails and had campfires. My twin sisters and
  younger brother – then aged around six and four – were incredibly jealous that I should be so favoured, going away on such an adventure.

  For some reason, I can still remember a song we sang by the campfire, to the tune of ‘Oh My Darling, Clementine’.

  
  
  
    
      To Glengonnar, to Glengonnar,

      Came the children with a will

      From St Michaels and St Josephs

      Larry Now and Noblehill.

    

  

 


 
   

  These were the names of other local Dumfries schools that were also at the camp. Larry Now stood for Laurieknowe Primary School.

  Back home, I taught Marion, Annabelle and Johnny the words of this fairly pathetic song and we all used to sing it in the dark in our beds to get ourselves to sleep before the next convoy woke
  us all up. Who said we didn’t have fun in wartime . . .

  I had a good friend in the Annan Road called Bertie Williamson. His family had a wood yard beside their house where we used play. It was quite dangerous, as the logs could fall on you and bury
  you underneath. His father was a barber in the middle of the town, a small asthmatic man, who used to work bent over his customers so you could see his skinny, weedy bottom. He cut my hair for
  free, which was why I went there. I think he took pity on our family as my mother was very often ill. Something to do with varicose veins. She was always being told she needed an operation.

  I used to go to town on my own every Saturday, running messages for the neighbours, going on the bus clutching shopping bags, shopping lists and the money. I can’t have been more than ten
  at the time, yet I was sent off alone, given such responsibility. I don’t think my own children were allowed on the bus on their own till they were grown-up, well, till they were teenagers.
  Parents were so trusting. There was no talk of paedophiles and loonies, muggers and knifemen wanting to harm you or dodgy people trying to spirit you away. Obviously they existed, but we were not
  warned about them. Perhaps our parents were as innocent as we were.

  The shops I went to were right in the middle of the town, in the High Street, mainly grocers like Lipton’s, the Home and Colonial or the Co-op, the same sort of grocery stores we had in
  Carlisle. I loved watching the pulley devices which whizzed across the shop floor carrying little metal canisters. They would end up in a hidden cubicle where someone would open them, check the
  order and the money, then put the change back in the canister and whiz it back to the relevant counter. I found it fascinating and exciting, like watching an aerial train set, but really, what a
  nonsense, what a palaver. Why did they do it? Could they not trust individual shop assistants to handle money?

  Smaller shops never had such fancy technology and the shopkeepers would do it all in their heads or on the back of a paper bag, instantly adding up 19/11, 12/6 and 5/7, often with halfpennies
  and farthings thrown in. Today you see dopey assistants in a panic when they have to add £7 and £4 together, using expensive electronic calculating machines.

  My mother did have to go into hospital for an operation and for several weeks it was my job to look after my brother and sisters after school, till my father came home from work. I made them
  their tea, which always consisted of the same thing – toast. Sometimes I spoiled them and boiled them potatoes as well. They used to moan and groan as the toast was burned and the spuds
  half-raw. I would slap it down and say, ‘That’s all you’re getting, eat up or shut up.’ I don’t think Health and Safety would allow any child of ten to look after
  three younger ones – and have pans of boiling water on a stove.

  In 1947, when I had just turned eleven, and after only four years in Dumfries, we were on the move once again, leaving Dumfries for good.

  Last time I was there our old house Nancyville had been converted back into a shop. Noblehill school was still there, but now has an additional building – a mosque. Who could have imagined
  that in 1947?

  I now also know, which I didn’t at the time, that Dumfries did have an aerodrome, which opened in 1938, and then, on 18 June 1940, an RAF maintenance unit was inaugurated, 18 MU. I was
  never aware of either at the time. That must have been why we moved, to help out at a new MU, my father being a dab hand by now at moving paperclips and pencils around.
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